

Submission to the **Senate Standing Committees on Community Affairs Inquiry into** 

# **Universal Access to Reproductive Healthcare**

#### **Contact for recipient:**

Senate Standing Committees on Community Affairs A: PO Box 6100, Parliament House, Canberra E: community.affairs.sen@aph.gov.au T: (02) 6277 3515

#### **Contact for PHAA:**

Terry Slevin – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: policy@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373 13 January 2023

# **Contents**

Preamble	3
Introduction	4
Our position on Fertility and Preconception Health	4
Our position on Abortion	5
Our position on the Health of People with Diverse Genders, Sexualities, and Sex Characteristics	$\epsilon$
Key recommendations for the Senate Committee	7
Responses to the Inquiry Terms of Reference	8
ToR (a): Cost and accessibility of contraceptives	8
ToR (b): Cost and accessibility of reproductive healthcare	10
Maternity care	11
ToR (c): workforce development options	14
ToR (d): best practice approaches	15
Best practice in trauma informed care	15
Best practice in services for indigenous women	16
Best practices in regard to recognising diversity	16
ToR (e): Sexual and reproductive health literacy	17
ToR (f): Experiences of people with a disability	18
Young people with intellectual disability	18
Women with a disability	19
ToR (g): experiences of transgender, non-binary and other people	20
ToR (h): Availability of reproductive health leave for employees	20
ToR (i): Any other related matter	22
Access to genetic health services	22
Reproductive Coercion	22
Conclusion	23
References	24

### **Preamble**

#### The Public Health Association of Australia

The Public Health Association of Australia (PHAA) is recognised as the principal non-government organisation for public health in Australia working to promote the health and well-being of all Australians. It is the pre-eminent voice for the public's health in Australia.

The PHAA works to ensure that the public's health is improved through sustained and determined efforts of the Board, the National Office, the State and Territory Branches, the Special Interest Groups and members.

The efforts of the PHAA are enhanced by our vision for a healthy Australia and by engaging with like-minded stakeholders in order to build coalitions of interest that influence public opinion, the media, political parties and governments.

Health is a human right, a vital resource for everyday life, and key factor in sustainability. Health equity and inequity do not exist in isolation from the conditions that underpin people's health. The health status of all people is impacted by the social, cultural, political, environmental and economic determinants of health. Specific focus on these determinants is necessary to reduce the unfair and unjust effects of conditions of living that cause poor health and disease. These determinants underpin the strategic direction of the Association.

All members of the Association are committed to better health outcomes based on these principles.



A healthy region, a healthy nation, healthy people: living in an equitable society underpinned by a well-functioning ecosystem and a healthy environment, improving and promoting health for all.

The reduction of social and health inequities should be an over-arching goal of national policy and recognised as a key measure of our progress as a society. All public health activities and related government policy should be directed towards reducing social and health inequity nationally and, where possible, internationally.

#### Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia

As the leading national peak body for public health representation and advocacy, to drive better health outcomes through increased knowledge, better access and equity, evidence informed policy and effective population-based practice in public health.



## Introduction

PHAA welcomes the opportunity to provide input to the Committee's inquiry into Universal Access to Reproductive Healthcare.

We also note that reference is continually made to "women" in discussing this subject, and for convenience this submission will do likewise. However, we recognise that not all pregnant people have a female gender identity, or refer to themselves as "women".

The enjoyment by all people of sexual and reproductive health rights is fundamental to population health, inextricably linked to gender equality, essential for sustainable development, and dramatically impacts health and wellbeing outcomes across the life cycle.

PHAA maintains nearly 100 policy position statements developed by our membership on a wide range of public health issues, including on a dozen topics relating to women's health. With reference to this inquiry, key resources are our policy statements covering:

- <u>Abortion</u> (2020)
- Contraception (2020)
- Emergency Contraception (2021)
- Long Acting Reversible Contraception (2021)
- Fertility and Preconception Health (2022)
- The Health of People with Diverse Genders, Sexualities, and Sex Characteristics (2021)

Before turning to your terms of reference, this introductory section sets out key findings and recommendations from our existing policy positions.

#### Our position on Fertility and Preconception Health

PHAA firmly believes that all people should be empowered with adequate fertility and preconception health-related knowledge to enable informed reproductive decisions.

Health promotion programs and campaigns should include information about the impact of lifestyle factors on fertility and reproductive outcomes. Research should be undertaken to inform fertility and preconception health promotion strategy development, implementation, and evaluation of outcomes.

Fertility and preconception health promotion should be an intrinsic part of sexual and reproductive health and family planning education and services. Family-centred preconception health services should offer tailored, individualised support prior to conception to both healthy couples and those with complex, chronic illnesses.

Fertility and preconception health literacy should be integrated into health education and health promotion programs including those with an impact on chronic disease.

Governments should develop and implement integrated sexual and reproductive health education strategies in teaching and health professionals' education which includes fertility and preconception health optimisation. There should also be expansion of existing national fertility and preconception health promotion programs and services, inclusive of targeted interventions for special populations, and services which increase awareness about the factors that influence fertility, benefits of preconception health optimisation, and limitations of assisted reproductive technology treatment in alleviating age-related infertility.

Research should be undertaken on how to improve the uptake of preconception care guidelines, such as the recent RACGP and RANZCOG guidelines, by health professionals and gauge people's attitudes towards preconception care and their preconception health literacy.

The Australian Government should create an extended Medicare Item Number for reproductive health including fertility management or optimisation and preconception health care including genetic and infectious disease screening and behaviour change counselling.

#### Our position on Abortion

Abortion is a safe, common medical procedure which should be regulated in the same way as other medical procedures. Both medical and surgical abortions should be included in health service planning. Preventing unintended pregnancy is a public health goal. Improved access to and uptake of contraception is associated with lower rates of unintended pregnancy and abortion.<sup>1</sup>

Abortion is a common gynaecological procedure.<sup>2</sup> When performed by skilled providers using evidence-based medical techniques and medications, induced abortion is a safe medical procedure.<sup>3</sup> Abortion should be regulated in the same way as other health procedures, without additional barriers or conditions. The regulation of abortion should be removed from Australian criminal law.

Most Australians support access to safe, legal abortion. 4 5 6

Universal access to safe abortion is an essential strategy in the provision of high-quality reproductive health in Australia. Comprehensive abortion care and services must be guided by evidence-based strategies and plans at the national and State/Territory level.

Failure of healthcare systems to provide accessible and appropriate sexual and reproductive health care, including the provision of safe abortion services, deprives individuals of their fundamental human rights such as bodily autonomy, dignity, and well-being.<sup>7</sup>

There is no increased risk of mental health issues for women who have an early abortion.<sup>6</sup> However, those who are denied an abortion have higher rates of anxiety than those who can access an abortion if they choose.<sup>8</sup>

Regulatory and service delivery developments relating to the provision of medical abortion present an opportunity to improve geographic and economic access to early medical abortion, recognising there will always be a need for abortion at all gestations and surgical abortion.<sup>9</sup>

There are high quality evidence-based guidelines to support abortion service delivery at the State and Territory level, but no national guidelines such as in the UK. $^{10\ 11\ 12}$ 

Comprehensive safe abortion care encompasses the provision of elective abortion services at the request of the woman, along with counselling for contraceptive use, medical after-care, and attention to other issues that are relevant to the woman's health.<sup>13 14 15</sup>

While abortion is now generally legal, or at least 'non-criminal', in all Australian States and Territories, different gestational and age limits remain in force, in criminal law rather than in ordinary health care regulation. <sup>16</sup> Restrictions that require the approval of one or two medical practitioners place women and other pregnancy capable people, as well as health professionals, at risk of criminal sanctions for obtaining or delivering health care.

Barriers to safe and timely abortion include legal restrictions, cost, lack of social support, delays in seeking health care, social stigma and negative attitudes of health professionals, poor quality services and a lack of policy and resources to ensure adequate service provision. These barriers disproportionally affect adolescents and people who are from ethno-cultural minorities, low income, rural or remote living and experience violence and/or abuse.<sup>17</sup> <sup>18</sup>

States and Territories should actively work toward equitable access (including geographic and financial access) to abortion services, with a mix of public and private services available.

In Australia, there are limited evidence-based guidelines and training to support the delivery of abortion services by appropriately qualified and skilled health professionals. The efforts to expand abortion guidelines through RANZCOG as well as the development of pathways for medical trainees to pursue a speciality in contraceptive and abortion services without the need for obstetrics training in labour and delivery/maternity care services should be fully funded and supported.<sup>19</sup>

#### Our position on the Health of People with Diverse Genders, Sexualities, and Sex Characteristics

PHAA recognises the diversity of sex characteristics, sexual orientations, and gender identities represented by lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex, asexual, and related people (LGBTQIA+).

PHAA is committed to a respectful and adaptable approach to employing inclusive language. Australian research and evidence relating to LGBTQIA+ experiences is limited. Definitions and understandings of sex characteristics, gender, and sexuality vary across available studies, contributing to the ongoing invisibility of many experiences of discrimination.

PHAA acknowledges that the collective term "LGBTQIA+" is not all-encompassing and does not capture the complexities of everyone's experiences, and will therefore resonate with people differently. This term is used in this policy in the absence of a national consensus, and has been consulted on with LGBTIQ+ Health Australia, Intersex Human Rights Australia, and other key stakeholders across several states.

In relation to the needs of intersex people, PHAA acknowledges the importance of the priorities set out in the *Darlington Statement* - a joint consensus statement by Australian and Aotearoa/New Zealand intersex organisations and independent advocates.<sup>20</sup>

#### Governments and other stakeholders should:

- work with key LGBTQIA+ peoples, communities, groups, organisations and peak bodies to develop best practice guidance for the provision of inclusive, safe, appropriate, and high quality health information, care, services, programs, education and training that meet the needs of LGBTQIA+ people.
- ensure that sexual and reproductive health services planning processes provide an inclusive and supportive environment for LGBTQIA+ people.
- ensure that the sexual and reproductive health and wellbeing of LGBTQIA+ peoples is included in all health professional education and training, and in general sexual and reproductive health programmes.
- support the development and implementation of workplace anti-discrimination policies in sexual
  and reproductive health care and beyond, which include specific references to harassment and
  discrimination based on sexual orientation, sex characteristics and gender identity.

#### Key recommendations for the Senate Committee

PHAA urges the Committee to recommend the following actions:

#### Strategy, planning and policy

- The Government create a comprehensive national sexual and reproductive health strategy
  addressing the domains identified in the 2014 <u>Melbourne Proclamation</u> that honours Australia's
  commitment to the SDGs and reports against agreed indicators.
- Abortion services should be included in service planning for all State and Territory health authorities and delivered in accordance with evidence-base standards of best practice and informed consent.
- Medicare rebates for abortion should be sufficient to prevent cost presenting a barrier to access, as well as made universally free regardless of Medicare and/or immigration status.

#### Regulation

- The regulation of abortion should be fully removed from criminal laws and codes of the states and territories and regulated under existing health care legislation.
- Barriers and restrictions to access, such as requirements for multiple opinions, gestational limits or mandated counselling should not be applied through legislation, regulation or policy.

#### Services

- Health care organisations should ensure attention to fertility control and person-centred decision
  making that includes pregnancy options counselling, information about access to abortion services
  and choice of methods, contraception counselling and referral without judgement or coercion.
- Service development and funding arrangements should increase access to medical abortion.
- A mix of private and public services should be available in all jurisdictions, including the availability
  of universally accessible comprehensive contraception and abortion care within public health
  services and international aid.
- The Australian Government should review the relationship between public funding and health care
  organisations, and ensure that all hospitals and other health care institutions which utilise
  Commonwealth public funding are required to offer non-judgemental, all-options contraception
  and abortion care.
- Abortion service providers should offer optional, comprehensive pre- and post-abortion counselling and contraceptive decision support and provision.

#### Workforce issues

- Health professionals with a conscientious objection to abortion care should inform their patients and refer patients to another health professional without such objection in a timely manner.
   Registration, professional and educational bodies should reinforce this responsibility.
- Legal protection should safeguard clients and staff of legal abortion services from harassment. This should include the provision of exclusion zones.

#### Research

- Abortion related research, training and workforce planning and development should be adequately funded, promote evidence-based quality care, and ensure equitable access to services and continuous quality improvement.
- National routine, complete and systematic data collection on abortion should be implemented and reported on annually in Australia.

# **Responses to the Inquiry Terms of Reference**

#### ToR (a): Cost and accessibility of contraceptives

- "(a) cost and accessibility of contraceptives, including:
  - (i) PBS coverage and TGA approval processes for contraceptives,
  - (ii) awareness and availability of long-acting reversible contraceptive and male contraceptive options, and
  - (iii) options to improve access to contraceptives, including over the counter access, longer prescriptions, and pharmacist interventions"

Preventing unintended pregnancies through increasing access to effective contraceptive use is a public health goal. Advice and provision of effective contraception is an essential health service and is cost-effective in reducing the impact of unintended pregnancies on individuals, the health system and society.

All people across the life course, and in particular of reproductive age, should receive health education that is age-appropriate, evidence-informed and free of discrimination, enabling the choice of contraceptive options that are safe, reliable, accessible, and affordable. Service planners should focus attention on improving information about and access to Long-Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) and Emergency Contraception (EC), as well as being aware to avoid any potential for perceived coercion or discriminatory practices.

Evidence-based and transparent approval processes, which enable access to the most up to date contraceptives and technologies, for all genders, should be prioritized and supported. This support could be in the form of financial incentives, or policies that enhance access to their products, by all in need, regardless of the person's economic status, or geographical location.

Limited knowledge of the different forms of male contraceptives, and their access, remains a concern, creating a knowledge gap in the prevention of unintended pregnancies. Resources should be readily available for all particularly for those in communities where patriarchal structures see pregnancy and contraception use as a female only issue. Modern modes of communication, including the use of mobile phone technologies, should be drawn upon, and should become an opportunity for information dissemination across marginalized population groups.

Pharmacists remain a group of healthcare providers whose potential outside of medication distribution is least untapped. The role of pharmacist in population health was evident during the Covid19 pandemic where they had responsibility in vaccination administration, was well received by the community. Proving pharmacists with the opportunity, and with the tools required to prescribe and dispense over counter contraceptives, will enhance access in the community.

We draw the Committee's attention to the recently updated (2022) WHO handbook *Family Planning* - *global handbook for providers*. <sup>21</sup> In relation to this handbook Pascale Allotey, WHO Director for Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights, commented that:

"family planning promotes self-actualization, empowerment, as well as health and wellbeing, and reduces maternal and infant deaths through the prevention of unintended pregnancy and unsafe abortion".<sup>22</sup>

Regarding family planning and contraceptives generally, we recommend a number of policy changes:

 the removal of the Medical Benefits Scheme (MBS) restrictions on nurse practitioners (NPs) and eligible midwives requesting pelvic ultrasounds with private Imaging providers (there is no item

- number for these providers). Nurse practitioners, nurses and midwives need to be able to have access to timely pelvic USS before and after IUS/IUD insertions.
- Allow for contraceptives available in other countries to have a quick review and approval through the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) – e.g. self-injectable contraception, different Intrauterine devices, patches, and implants.
- Include all contraception in the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS), e.g the third and fourth generation oral contraceptive pills, the combination vaginal ring contraception and increase the script repeats to 12 months for all non long-acting reversible contraceptives (e.g. it is currently only 6 months for injectable contraception and menopause hormonal therapy).
- improve access by increasing the range of approved prescribers to include nurse practitioners, eligible midwives and Advanced Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Workers. This will mean improved education regarding prescribing and access to abortion care, and will increase the opportunities for prescribers in regional, rural, remote, and very remote communities.
- Remove the MBS barriers for nurse practitioners and eligible midwife requests for pelvic ultrasound scans to determine pregnancy gestation and if it is intrauterine before a medical termination of pregnancy (nurses/midwives can only order third trimester ultrasound scans with an MBS item number).
- Remove the requirement of pharmacists to be registered providers of medical termination medicines.
- Incentivise pharmacies to supply medical termination medicines, and provide education the roles of pharmacists and legal obligations with respect to conscientious objection.
- Change the authority for prescribing medical termination medicines to a streamlined authority

Regarding emergency contraception, we recommend the following:

- Emergency contraception methods should be made available free to all, including the copper IUD.
- Implementation of national pharmacy guidelines should be supported by government and pharmacy professional groups to ensure consistent, best-practice emergency contraception care.
- A national information, referral support and advice service should be resourced to allow people of all genders to access information as to the locations of pro-choice pharmacies, IUD insertion, vasectomy and abortion providers.
- Cu-IUD provision should be publicly funded at no cost to the woman and available through a variety of services in the community.<sup>23</sup>

PHAA also supports the recent (2020) *Women's Sexual and Reproductive Health COVID-19 Coalition - Provision of emergency contraception: a consensus statement* from the NHMRC Centre for Research Excellence in Sexual Health for Women in Primary Care (SPHERE), which calls for remuneration of staff and service providers be strengthened as follows:

- Provide appropriate remuneration for nurses, nurse practitioners and midwives providing contraceptive services, LARC insertion and removal procedures, and medical abortion care, as well as subsidised costs for related equipment.
- Ensure appropriate remuneration and reimbursement for GPs providing LARC insertion and removal services, including through increased MBS rebates and subsidised costs for related equipment.
- Fund Primary Health Networks to develop an integrated regional approach to contraception care
  that identifies gaps in service provision at a local level (with consideration of the needs of remote,
  rural and regional patients), commissions health services to fill those gaps, and maps the
  availability of services.

• Incentivise GPs and other health practitioners to undertake abortion and LARC insertion/removal training in areas of need, as identified by regional reporting.<sup>24</sup>

In line with a gender balanced approach, contraceptive services for males should also be expanded through community awareness campaigns about vasectomy, an underused, safe and cost-effective family planning methods, and universal access to the procedure.<sup>25</sup>

Investment in contraception research, both female and male controlled, should be prioritised, as should be effective translation of research into practice.<sup>26</sup> <sup>27</sup>

Lack of affordability is one of the most widely reported and distressing aspects of abortion care. People who are seeking abortion care need greater financial support to avoid delays, which cause distress and affect our communities. In the longer term, there are several possible solutions to consider, including looking at Medicare's abortion care subsidies, PBS funding and private health reform agreements.

But action is needed now. This could include creating a national fund to provide financial support for pregnant people who want contraception or abortion but cannot afford their choice of health care and associated costs, including travel and childcare. Such a fund must be accessible, discreet and provide funding upfront in order to support all people who wish to access an abortion, including people on visas, and women in violent or financial abuse situations.

#### ToR (b): Cost and accessibility of reproductive healthcare

"(b) cost and accessibility of reproductive healthcare, including pregnancy care and termination services across Australia, particularly in regional and remote areas"

Women carry the greatest burden for mistimed, and/or unplanned, pregnancies. Women are also financially disadvantaged in Australia compared to men. Costs associated with contraceptives disproportionately affects the most disadvantaged people, forming an equity barrier to contraceptive use. Providing low cost — or even free — access to all forms of contraception, particularly to young women, will not only reduce a gender inequity, but also ensure better health outcomes for the affected infants, the mothers, and future children born to these mothers.

It is also very important to highlight the need to achieve universal sexual and reproductive health care support for men. In respect of reproductive health issues, men:

- have their own needs that deserve attention
- can support their partners to achieve joint reproductive outcomes
- should be engaged to change harmful gender roles that undermine women's bodily autonomy.

Ensuring that men's sexual and reproductive health care needs are supported will have positive flow on effects on the health of their partners, children and the whole family. Men should therefore be supported by our health systems to use all forms of contraceptives available to them, though contraception use and unplanned pregnancies as a result remains a gender issue that disproportionately affects women.

The goal of ensuring access to reproductive health should include the full continuum of measures, including:

- family-planning counselling, information, education, communication and services
- education and services for prenatal care, safe delivery and post-natal care, especially breast-feeding and infant and women's health care
- prevention and appropriate treatment of infertility

- management of unintended/unwanted pregnancies, including abortion
- treatment of reproductive tract infections
- sexually transmitted diseases and other reproductive health conditions
- information, education and counselling, as appropriate, on human sexuality, reproductive health and contemporary parenthood.<sup>28</sup>

Governments, and in particular their public health systems, should address – equitably to all Australians – the following needs:

- Contraception for all those wanting it including LARC procedural cost <sup>29</sup>
- free and easier access to condoms and lubricant especially to young people and school aged people
- Free access to menstrual products in schools, public buildings, libraries, and other places, reducing stigma through community-wide education.<sup>30</sup>
- Access to emergency contraception in high schools by school based youth nurses
- Services for termination of pregnancy (TOP) either medical or surgical depending on their circumstances, personal preferences and health history
- Bring about a consistent and standardised approach to TOP services in all states and territories.
   This would include clinical guidelines for the provision of TOP services and undergraduate education
- Bring about an integrated approach to TOP care in other reproductive health services (public and private) so surgical TOP is always an option
- Mainstream abortion care e.g. second trimester abortion care is the same as second trimester
  miscarriage care, hospitals already care for people having third trimester miscarriages and still
  births, translating this health care into termination care should not need to be a sub-specialty in
  obstetric education.
- Where people must travel to a termination provider, they should be supported for travel expenses and the expenses of a support person if requested.

Government services should be working toward an intersectoral collaborative approach, with joined-up responsibilities across community, regulators, health services, CALD sectors, and disability support providers to improve access to TOP services.

The absence of government funding for preconception health services limits the time and attention health professionals can dedicate to effective preconception care, inclusive of family planning, health behaviour change, and genetic screening. Equally, there is a need for health promotion campaigns - starting with school-aged children - focused on educating the community of the critical importance of both reproductive partners being healthy prior to conception. The lack of awareness about preconception and reproductive health planning impacts on the frequency with which the public access health professional advice and support in the preconception period, thereby placing all responsibility for identifying the appropriate timing for raising preconception clinical conversations on the health professional amidst other busy clinical interactions.

#### Maternity care

While early access to antenatal care is paramount for optimal maternal and child health outcomes, substantial inequities in coverage exist, particularly for culturally and linguistically diverse people.<sup>31</sup> There is a need for increased early access to high quality culturally sensitive antenatal services by culturally and linguistically diverse people.<sup>32</sup>

Continuity of midwifery *carer* is internationally recognised as the gold standard of maternity care.<sup>33</sup> However, only 31% of models of maternity care in Australia emphasise the value of continuity of carer across the antenatal, intrapartum, and postnatal periods.<sup>34</sup>

There is significant variation in carer continuity availability around the country.<sup>35</sup> Only a minority of people in Australia have access to continuity of midwifery care, only 8% of women actually do obtain it, and the majority of hospitals report that the demand exceeds capacity.<sup>36</sup> Access is mostly restricted to low-risk pregnancy, and women can lose access to care continuity during pregnancy if complications arise, even though there is evidence that continuity of midwifery carer results in better outcomes, improved experiences for women and midwives and costs less.<sup>37</sup> <sup>38</sup> <sup>39</sup> <sup>40</sup> <sup>41</sup> <sup>42</sup> Australia's health system should commit to increasing the number of women who have access to continuity of midwifery carer.

The number of rural and remote birthing services is declining, forcing women to travel long distances in labour, resulting in increased rates of babies born before arrival to hospital.<sup>43</sup> Over 50% of small units having fewer than 100 births per year were closed between 1992 to 2011. This disproportionately affects Indigenous people as 26% of Indigenous births occur in remote or very remote areas compared to 2% on non-Indigenous births.<sup>44</sup> This has resulted in a higher proportion of babies unintentionally born out of hospital (0.7%) than the number of intended home births (0.4%). There is a reluctance to maintain birthing services without caesarean section capability, despite international evidence that having a non-caesarean service is safer than no service; indeed the perinatal death rate for babies born to mothers who live in *very remote* areas is double that of those who live in other areas.<sup>45</sup> Australia's governments should commit to revitalising rural and remote birth services to improve access to timely care.

Home birth services in Australia have excellent outcomes for mums and babies, including reduced intervention rates and very high satisfaction with birth experience, but are only accessible to a small numbers; 0.4% of babies were born at home in 2021.<sup>46</sup> <sup>47</sup> There are only a few public programs, and these have very restrictive criteria. Some people can access home births by hiring a private midwife, but this is financially impossible for most. The number of private midwives is small, in part due to structural barriers including lack of an indemnity insurance. Australia's health system should commit to facilitating access to care options that support the right to choose a preferred place of birth.

Australia's maternity health system does not prioritises mothers' and babies' long-term health, but instead focuses predominantly on short-term outcomes for babies, with high rates of intervention to attempt to eliminate even the smallest risk factor for the baby during the current pregnancy. This focus results in under-emphasis on women's long term health, the health of any future children they might conceive, and long-term children's health.

Our caesarean rate is very high at 37% (39% for first time mums), and it has increased from 31% (32% for first time mothers) in 2010; in contrast to the WHO's statement that rates above 10-15% do not improve population health. <sup>49 50</sup> Overuse of caesarean section is expensive to the health system and has negative implications for women's and children's health, including increased rates of asthma, obesity and poorer development for children born by caesarean; and women having children after a caesarean experience increased rates of infertility, miscarriage, stillbirth, uterine rupture, and abnormal placental development. <sup>51</sup>

Our episiotomy rate is unacceptably high: 25% of women (46% of first-time mothers) giving birth vaginally are having their perineum cut, an increase from 21% (37% for first time mothers) in 2010.<sup>52</sup> Episiotomy is painful and may sever nerves and anatomy important to sexual health.<sup>53 54</sup> When combined with our caesarean rates, half of all mothers (52%), and two thirds (67%) of first time mothers, receive surgery of some kind when giving birth.

Our induction of labour rate is unacceptably high at 35.5% (43% of first time mothers); an increase from 25% (30% for first-time mothers) in 2010, and a further 16% (29% of women experiencing spontaneous

labour; 41% for first-time mothers) receive labour-inducing drugs to speed up their labour. <sup>55</sup> This means that only 25% labour without receiving drugs to start or speed up labour. Induced labour is more painful and increases their chance of having a caesarean, perineal tearing, and an episiotomy. Induction of labour results in increased rates of poor outcomes for babies, including a long-term increase in hospitalisation for infections. <sup>56</sup>

Despite unprecedented rates of surgical birth and medically induced labour, short-term baby outcomes are not improving. The proportion of babies admitted to the SCN/NICU has increased slightly from 16% to 18% since 2010; the perinatal death rate is unchanged.<sup>57</sup> Preterm birth rates have not changed, including for Indigenous mothers, who continue to experience preterm birth at 1.7 times the rate of non-Indigenous mothers.

Increasing rates of intervention in labour and birth has consistently been associated with poorer mental health outcomes, including postpartum anxiety and depression, and birth-related post-traumatic stress disorder. Poor postpartum mental health is estimated to cost the economy around \$7.3 billion each year. 59 60 61 62 63

Australia's health system should commit to reviewing its policies and procedures with an eye towards supporting the right to be free from unnecessary medical intervention during labour and birth, including increasing access to models of care that result in lower intervention rates.

Many of Australia's mothers do not have access to respectful maternity care. Women experience high rates of psychological trauma during childbirth, with estimated 1 in 3 experiencing a traumatic birth, and 1 in 10 resulting in PTSD, and the number rises for those who have assisted or caesarean births. <sup>64</sup> Poor care provider treatment is a particular risk for women experiencing psychological trauma during birth. <sup>65</sup>

Many women report that they do not receive enough information to make informed decisions during labour and birth, or receive information biased towards their care provider's preference, resulting in them agreeing to interventions that do not align with their preferences. Some of these stories are quite alarming, including mothers being manipulated, punished, badgered and/or assaulted when they did not consent to a recommended intervention in their births. Informed consent to procedures is an essential element of respectful maternity care, yet a study in 2010 revealed that only 27% of women provided informed consent for induction of labour, 52% for planned caesarean, and 12% for unplanned caesarean. Yet another study showed that maternity care providers had poor understanding of their legal responsibilities and women's rights to informed consent during childbirth, and many policies and guidelines contain coercive language that precludes informed consent.

To increase access to respectful maternity care, Australia's health system should commit to ensuring that all clinicians have a working understanding of informed consent to procedures during childbirth, and review policies and procedures to ensure structural support for women's consent.

Many women do not have access to vaginal breech birth, vaginal birth for twins, or vaginal birth after caesarean; many services and clinicians are only willing to do caesareans in these scenarios, despite evidence that caesarean delivery is of no benefit, or even results in increased risks, to mother and baby. This constitutes mandatory surgery for women who find themselves in these scenarios, which is a violation of their right to bodily integrity. The result of this policy is that the vast majority of clinicians no longer have the skills to manage vaginal birth for breech babies or twins. This is a problem because occasionally women will labour too quickly to perform a caesarean, and if clinicians lack the skills to manage these births, women and babies face additional risks. Australia's health system should review these policies and ensure that all midwives and obstetricians obtain and maintain the skills necessary to give women adequate care in the context of all kinds of vaginal birth.

Indigenous women are 3 times more likely to die from causes related to pregnancy than non-Indigenous women, and the perinatal death rate for babies born to Indigenous mothers is 1.5 times higher than for non-Indigenous mothers.<sup>72 73</sup> In addition, babies born to mothers born in Africa, Central America and the Pacific Islands were also more likely to die. This reflects a serious disparity in access to culturally appropriate care. Increasing access to bilingual trained childbirth companions (doulas) could be a way to bridge cultural gaps, improving women's experiences, including for Indigenous women, low-income women, and migrant women.<sup>74 75 76</sup>

Services should work towards giving women access to models of care that have better outcomes, especially including midwifery continuity of care and out of hospital birth. Scaling up continuity of midwifery care among public hospitals is an important public health strategy to address equitable access to maternity services.<sup>77</sup>

Another priority is non-stigmatising support services for women living with HIV who want to become pregnant, or are pregnant, including supportive breastfeeding with appropriate access to specialists to advise on appropriate antiretroviral care, regardless of Medicare entitlement or migration status.<sup>78</sup>

Maternal health services should be provided in a way that incorporates an understanding of the role and experiences of fathers, in addition to addressing the needs of women and children. Health service organisations should design and implement interventions that promote "father inclusive practices" in maternity care while maintaining women's autonomy.<sup>79</sup>

Fathers should be supported, included, and prepared so they can support their partner effectively in achieving the ideal of transition to a successful pregnancy, joyful birth and positive parenthood experience.<sup>80</sup>

PHAA endorses the 12 competency standards developed by the Migrant and Refugee Women's Health Partnership for clinicians in providing culturally responsive clinical care for people from refugee and migrant backgrounds.<sup>81</sup>

#### ToR (c): workforce development options

"(c) workforce development options for increasing access to reproductive healthcare services, including GP training, credentialing and models of care led by nurses and allied health professionals"

The skills and human resources shortage within the health workforce is a major challenge affecting the entire healthcare industry. This problem is greatly exacerbated in regional and rural areas. A sexual and reproductive healthcare workforce with specialists' skills pose an even bigger challenge.

Governments should organise an effective response to this challenge by investing in the training of nurses, doctors, maternal and child health nurses, nurse practitioners, and community 'doulas', will enhance and build the knowledge in this specialist area. Further, the workforce should reflect the people and community it serves. This should be reflected at all levels from the community support workers, through to the senior leadership roles.

Preconception health literacy and preconception counselling training is needed for all health professionals likely to provide care to people during their reproductive life. This commonly includes general practitioners, midwives, pharmacists and community health nurses, but may also include allied health practitioners such as dieticians, physiotherapists, chiropractors, naturopaths, and acupuncturists.<sup>82</sup> 83

Increasing the use of models of care that are led by midwives, especially when there is continuity of care between individual midwives and families, could enhance service provision.

Barriers to the accreditation of nurse practitioners to provide medication abortion car, as well as to provision of contraception (including LARC), should be removed from law and policy in all jurisdictions. Additional positions for nurse practitioners in sexual and reproductive health care should be established, with a focus on rural and remote areas and services for vulnerable populations.

Educational providers should embed training in contraceptive counselling, insertion/removal of LARC, abortion care, preconception care, etc. in all obstetrics and gynaecology, GP, practice nurse, nurse practitioner and midwife training programs (including a focus on sensitive enquiry for identifying reproductive coercion and abuse).<sup>84</sup>

Governments and other stakeholders should ensure that literacy on the health and wellbeing of LGBTQIA+ peoples is included in all health professional education and training, and also in general sexual and reproductive health programmes.

Governments should invest in building the health workforce of historically marginalised groups including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, culturally & linguistically diverse communities, and people with disabilities.

Healthcare organisations should engage the sexual and reproductive health workforce in ongoing cultural competency improvement programs to satisfy the need of people seeking care.<sup>85</sup>

#### ToR (d): best practice approaches

"(d) best practice approaches to sexual and reproductive healthcare, including trauma-informed and culturally appropriate service delivery"

The WHO statement on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research (2022),<sup>86</sup> provides an excellent starting point for best practice approaches in reproductive health service provision. This statement emphasises principles which should be present in any best practice approach, including the following:

#### "Key conceptual elements of sexual health

When viewed holistically and positively:

- Sexual health is about well-being, not merely the absence of disease.
- Sexual health involves respect, safety and freedom from discrimination and violence.
- Sexual health depends on the fulfilment of certain human rights.
- Sexual health is relevant throughout the individual's lifespan, not only to those in the reproductive years, but also to both the young and the elderly.
- Sexual health is expressed through diverse sexualities and forms of sexual expression.
- Sexual health is critically influenced by gender norms, roles, expectations and power dynamics.

Sexual health needs to be understood within specific social, economic and political contexts."

#### Best practice in trauma informed care

Domestic, family and sexual violence prevalence rates in Australia are profound and widespread across society. Intimate partner violence is the greatest health risk factor, more than smoking or obesity of women of reproductive age between 25-44. Those at greatest risk are young women, pregnant women, women separating from their partners, women with disability, women experiencing financial hardship and Indigenous women. <sup>88</sup>

The Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health found 51% of women in their twenties, 34% of women in their forties, and 26% of women aged 68 to 73 have experienced sexual violence. The study also showed women who experienced childhood sexual violence were twice as likely to have experienced violence as an adult. Child physical and/or sexual abuse is common, 1 in 6 women and 1 in 6 women before the age of 15, which is likely an underreport.

The most common mental health problem for women survivors of domestic and family violence is post-traumatic stress syndrome, with prevalence ranging from >30% to as high as >80% and there is increasing knowledge about the impact of complex post-traumatic stress disorder in this population.<sup>89</sup>

The above statistics demonstrate the need for the following recommendations:

- Fully fund and implement without delay the 2022 National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children 2022–2032.90
- Recognise the role of domestic, family and sexual violence and its intersection with sexual and reproductive health, especially among high risk groups – such as those of reproductive age and who are pregnant – by ensuring adequate training on trauma informed approaches and violence prevention.
- Improve the responsiveness of the whole health system, from patient support services, such as front facing administration, and all health care trainees and providers, and in the key areas of general practice, and emergency services.
- Fully fund health care organisations to have social workers and other specialised domestic and family violence support workers as well as capacity within consultations by doctors and nurses to offer warm referrals and case management where there is a disclosure of violence by providers
- Collect data and revisit policies on mandatory reporting and its impact; in general, mandatory reporting has not been shown to be effective, but does hamper disclosure and women's empowerment. Mandatory training of providers to identify and respond to violence should be prioritised instead.<sup>91</sup>
- Expand domestic and family leave entitlements, and emergency payments.

#### Best practice in services for indigenous women

Specific best practice issues arise in regard to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women. Birthing on Country services have shown excellent improvements in the provision of culturally competent maternity care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women, including one service which has seen large reductions (40-50%) in preterm birth in women using the service. These programs are leading the way in best practice for improving Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander maternal health. 92 93

Other programs have seen similar improvements in outcomes yet have had trouble sustaining a funding source. A permanent source of funding should be established so that trust in these programs is not compromised.

Examples such as the Bagarok program have found success through "co-design of the study and programme implementation with First Nations people, staff cultural competency training, identification of First Nations women (and babies), and regular engagement between caseload midwives and First Nations hospital and community teams. Further work should include a focus on addressing cultural and workforce barriers to implementation of culturally responsive caseload midwifery in regional areas." <sup>94</sup>

#### Best practices in regard to recognising diversity

Australia is a country that prides itself in its diversity and multiculturalism. Diversity can present an opportunity. However, diversity can also pose challenges.

Migrants in Australia come from diverse backgrounds, with refugees and asylum seekers constituting an essential demographical group. Other Australian born persons have experienced family violence or other forms of trauma. Acknowledging the diverse needs of the population groups, understanding the intersectionality, understanding the previous experiences of trauma, understanding diverse groups' ways of knowing and living, will all help to enhance contraception acceptance, uptake, and use. Community led approaches to contraception education by people with shared backgrounds and experiences will also enhance acceptance.

Several factors need to be taken into consideration when implementing sexual and reproductive healthcare services for culturally and linguistically diverse individuals. These include:

- addressing the broader economic, geographical and social factors that affect their accessibility to services
- provision of respectful, person-centred and culturally appropriate services
- ongoing community engagement to understand the barriers and potential solutions from their perspectives
- Availability of and access to providers and care in first language, as well as availability of translation and interpretation.<sup>95</sup>

Centres of excellence in the provision of abortion care should be established in the public sector (where they do not already exist), and funding for diversity relevant research, policy-development, and teaching in health professional education should be provided by jurisdictions.

#### ToR (e): Sexual and reproductive health literacy

In line with the *WHO statement on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research* (2022),<sup>97</sup> PHAA recognises that sexual health is "a state of physical, emotional, mental, and social wellbeing related to sexuality".<sup>98</sup> Sexual health requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships and the possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination, and violence. Sexuality is a key part of each person's identity and includes "sex, gender identities and roles, sexual orientation, eroticism, pleasure, intimacy, and reproduction [within] the interaction of biological, psychological, social, economic, political, cultural, legal, historical, religious, and spiritual factors".

For sexual health to be attained and maintained, the sexual rights of all persons must be respected, protected, and fulfilled. There is growing consensus that sexual health cannot be achieved and maintained without respect for, and protection of certain human rights enshrined in existing laws. Educating children and young people about their rights to access health care, Medicare, health service provision, navigating the healthcare system, access to contraception and vaccinations should be supported and promoted.

There is evidence of significant gaps in preconception health literacy and confidence among health professionals and the public. This can be overcome through a coordinated effort across public health, health promotion, policy setting and clinical practice. Expert consensus among Australian preconception health researchers and clinicians has found health and social care professionals need to access to adequate training to address their knowledge gaps. Similarly community education is necessary to improve broader public health literacy with regards to preconception health.<sup>99</sup>

Health literacy programs should address all the eight components of sexual and reproductive health stated in the WHO Framework. 100

PHAA also supports the recent (2021) *Consensus Statement on Reproductive Coercion* from the NHMRC Centre for Research Excellence in Sexual Health for Women in Primary Care (SPHERE) Women's Sexual and Reproductive Health COVID-19 Coalition recommendations, which includes these recommendations:

- Ensure relationships, sexuality and reproductive health education within schools, age appropriate, sex-positive, non-judgmental and intersectional lens
- Access to community campaigns, translated resources and interpreters
- Embed sexual and reproductive health in clinical education and competence standards for doctors, nurses, aboriginal health practitioners, pharmacists, physiotherapy etc. not as a sub-speciality. <sup>101</sup>

It should also be recognised that there are gender differences in sexual and reproductive health literacy and programs need to be independently designed to be culturally safe and age appropriate. In some cases communities may prefer separate approaches for women, men and LGBTIQ+ people. 102, 103

Finally, the specific challenges facing refugee arrivals should also be acknowledged. Sexual and reproductive health education should be part of refugee resettlement programs in Australia. 104

#### ToR (f): Experiences of people with a disability

"(f) experiences of people with a disability accessing sexual and reproductive healthcare" 105

PHAA's positions on this topic are articulated in our *Policy position statement on Disability and Health* (2022). 106

People with disability have poorer health than the general population. They experience health inequities that are linked to discrimination, barriers to accessing services, barriers to inclusion, and are disadvantaged with respect to almost all social determinants of health. We urge the Committee to adopt recommendations in our policy statements including:

- Make health services and equipment accessible and affordable for all people with disability, particularly Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with disability, people with disability in remote areas, people with psychosocial or intellectual disability, people with disability living in institutions, and women and children with disability.
- Amend the NDIS accessibility and assessment process to provide equal opportunities for marginalised groups, adopt the human rights model of disability, and make more resources available and accessible.
- Harmonise Australia's legal framework with the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with
  Disabilities, including but not limited to protecting people with disability from multiple and
  intersectional discrimination, amending migration laws and policies to ensure people with disability
  do not face any form of discrimination related to migration and asylum seeking, and amending laws
  to enable independent monitoring of the implementation of the Convention on the Rights of
  Persons with Disabilities.
- Increase training on disability, including hidden forms of disability like intellectual disability and autism, for health care trainees and staff in all areas, addressing ableism and providing appropriate care.
- Abolish practices that violate the autonomy, independence and dignity of people with disability, including the involuntary detention of people with disability in psychiatric hospitals and the use of medical interventions and restrictive practices, and implement a nationally consistent supported decision-making framework.

#### Young people with intellectual disability

When specifically considering access to sexual and reproductive healthcare, research suggests that sexual education programs in schools may be inadequate for young people with intellectual disability.<sup>107</sup>

Young people with intellectual disability do not have adequate opportunities to give consent, or even voice matters, affecting their sexual health and wellbeing. Anti-ableist policies in sexual and reproductive health, for example, in education curriculum is key to achieving equitable health outcomes. There is a need for well designed, disability inclusive education programs that prioritise safety, assertiveness, and self-determination to support positive outcomes. Sexual education programs should be developed with and for young people with disability, and be accessible.

#### Women with a disability

It is estimated that 9% of women of childbearing age have a disability. Women with disabilities have higher rates of poor perinatal outcomes, and report poorer experiences during episodes of maternity care. However, women with disabilities are not consistently identified in Australia's maternity care system; there is no systematic data collection, and two thirds of services are unable to estimate the number of women with disabilities seen at their hospital. Most service providers do not offer specialised services or training for staff in disability identification, documentation and referral pathways. 110

The very recent report by Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA), *Towards Reproductive Justice for young women, girls, feminine identifying, and non-binary people with disability (YWGwD) - Report from the YWGwD National Survey*,<sup>111</sup> identified a range of barriers to access to services, including:

- negative and hostile attitudes among service providers
- an absence of physical accessibility with regard to buildings and equipment (e.g., exam tables and diagnostic equipment)
- a lack of information in accessible formats (e.g., in Braille or Easy English) Towards Reproductive Justice for YWGwD
- communication barriers (e.g., the lack of training for service providers on communicating with young women and girls with intellectual disabilities or a lack of access to Auslan interpreters)
- relatives and caregivers acting as gatekeepers to information and services
- a lack of accessible transportation to or from services
- affordability of services
- the isolation of girls and young women with disabilities living in institutional settings such as disability group homes or youth detention centres.

There is an urgent need for the development of disability identification, data collection and assistance services to ensure that women with disabilities receive adequate maternity care. The WWDA report also proposed a range of solutions to these challenges, including:

- Comprehensive information about contraception use
- Accessible and disability-specific information
- Include SRHR goals as "reasonable and necessary" under NDIS to ensure supports
- Assistance to manage Menstruation and pelvic pain for people with disability
- ensure protected right to be pregnant and parent
- Fund specific supports to address gendered disability violence
- Information about contraception for young women, girls, men, boys & gender diverse people with disability
- ensure and raise community awareness of Privacy and rights when accessing sexual and reproductive healthcare
- Utilise a sex-positive disability lens
- trauma informed health services. <sup>112</sup>

#### ToR (g): experiences of transgender, non-binary and other people

"(g) experiences of transgender people, non-binary people, and people with variations of sex characteristics accessing sexual and reproductive healthcare"

This subject is addressed in some detail in PHAA's recent (2022) *Policy position statement on The Health of People with Diverse Genders, Sexualities, and Sex Characteristics*. <sup>113</sup> LGBTQIA+ women and people with a uterus have distinct sexual and reproductive health needs. <sup>114</sup> <sup>115</sup>

Evidence from indicates that there may be a lack of knowledge in both healthcare providers and young transgender or non-binary people assigned a female gender at birth regarding contraceptive healthcare needs. 114

A survey of Australian adults who identify as trans found that "Better training for doctors in trans health issues was the top priority for government funding".

In response, one policy option could be to ensure that in all medical and allied health training, the health and wellbeing of LGBTIQA+ people, including the contraceptive healthcare needs of all people with a uterus, is recommended to be included. 116

LGBTQIA+ people also experience high levels of discrimination across society, including in healthcare. Evidence has shown that LGBTQIA+ people may not access health services as much as the general population, and when they do they may not disclose their gender identity or sexuality. <sup>117</sup> Therefore, it is vital that LGBTQIA+ inclusive and sensitive training is given to medical professionals, to ensure this is a safer environment for LGBTQIA+ individuals. This is particularly key due to the nature of sexual and reproductive healthcare discussions.

Governments and other stakeholders should support the development and implementation of workplace anti-discrimination policies in health care and beyond, which include specific references to harassment and discrimination based on sexual orientation, sex characteristics and gender identity.

Transgender and gender diverse individuals have varying access to fertility-preserving services, according to ability to afford it and depending on healthcare provider knowledge. In some states, those who wish to change the record of sex on their birth certificate are required to have undergone an 'affirmation procedure', some of which result in sterility. Fertility preservation is seen as a medical necessity for cancer patients, but not for transgender and gender diverse people, and is thus not covered by Medicare. The cost of fertility-preserving services can run to thousands of dollars when not covered by Medicare or private health insurance, and can be viewed as a barrier towards official gender affirmation for those who wish to have genetically related children.

Transgender men who decide to get pregnant face many barriers to care, including being rejected from reproductive health services and dealing with ignorance from healthcare providers. There is a need for inclusive and specialised services for transgender parents in Australia. 119

#### ToR (h): Availability of reproductive health leave for employees

To achieve gender equality and best outcomes for parents and children, paid parental leave for parents of any gender should urgently be expanded to 6 months, regardless of primary or secondary caregiver status, number of children and/or how children enter families. This will assist to significantly increase exclusive breastfeeding and well as shared domestic duties and gender equality. 120

PHAA supports the Victoria Women's Trust recommendations for menstrual and menopause leave from their 2021 report *Ourselves at Work: Creating positive menstrual culture in your workplace*, suggestions for policies in these terms:

"The policy is designed to be flexible depending on the employee's needs, providing for the following options:

- 1. The possibility of working from home\*,
- 2. The opportunity to stay in the workplace under circumstances which encourage the comfort of the employee E.g. resting in a quiet area; or
- 3. The possibility of taking a day's paid leave.

In the case of paid leave, employees are entitled to a maximum of 12 paid days per calendar year (prorata, non-cumulative) in the event of inability to perform work duties because of menstruation and menopause, and their associated symptoms. A medical certificate is not required." <sup>121</sup>

We further support the recent Health and Communities Service Union draft clause for reproductive health and wellbeing leave, which refers to:

"any condition relating to:

- menstruation,
- perimenopause,
- menopause,
- poly-cystic ovarian syndrome and endometriosis,
- In Vitro Fertilisation (IVF) and
- other forms of assisted reproductive health services,
- vasectomy,
- hysterectomy and
- Terminations [of pregnancy]." 122

#### Recommended leave for the above is that:

"An Employee, including a casual Employee, experiencing reproductive health issues is entitled to up to 5 days per year of paid reproductive health leave for the purpose of treatment and management of ill health/symptoms, in addition to any personal leave". In addition to

- The right to work from home
- flexible working hours
- Reasonable changes to work environment to provide comfortable working environment to alleviate symptoms or facilitate treatment
- the right to access reasonable unpaid leave."

The above recommendations should also include expanded domestic and family leave entitlements, and emergency payments as mentioned above.

#### ToR (i): Any other related matter

#### Access to genetic health services

We urge the Committee to note the need to address disparities in access to genetic services, especially in regard to Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander people, while also ensuring that services are provided in a culturally safe manner and respectful of patient and family choices and worldviews.<sup>123</sup>

#### Reproductive Coercion

We also wish to raise the issue of reproductive coercion, which forms a part of the wider problem of sexual, domestic, and family violence (SDFV).

PHAA's positions are set out in our policy position statement on Gender-Based Violence (2019). Other important resources are the 2020 paper *Hidden forces: A white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence* (Marie Stopes Australia, 2020),<sup>124</sup> and the recent (2021) NHMRC Centre for Research Excellence in Sexual Health for Women in Primary Care (SPHERE) Women's Sexual and Reproductive Health COVID-19 Coalition *Consensus Statement on Reproductive Coercion*.<sup>125</sup>

Initiatives which we recommend include the following:

- Universal access to quality, confidential contraception care (with free access to all methods), abortion care without a limit on gestation, and pro-choice pregnancy counselling services. recognising the role of coercion, violence and abuse that can occur in reproductive decisions towards pregnancy, abortion, or both and the need for a person-centred approach.<sup>126</sup> 127
- Embed and invest in appropriate training for providers and community support services in matters of sexual, domestic, family violence, including reproductive coercion and abuse.
- Primary care organisations and others involved in DFV response should integrate mandatory DFV
   (including reproductive coercion) training. For health professionals, training should commence in
   undergraduate education, continue across accreditation, and be included in continuing professional
   education. Training should consider the following: the need to safely speak alone with the woman,
   legal obligations, and safeguarding issues for staff.
- Best practices in dealing with diverse (such as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander, migrant, refugee and LGBTQI+) communities should include standards for identity affirmation and cultural safety and competency, as understanding of coercion differs greatly across cultures and contexts.
   For example, access to appropriately trained first-language interpreters and/or cultural liaisons should be ensured where applicable.
- Survivors of domestic and family violence community awareness campaigns should be undertaken, including a focus on reproductive coercion.
- Criminal law should omit any reference to sexual and reproductive health, as this can significantly hamper disclosure, and reduce women's agency.
- Governments should review mandatory reporting for Health Care Providers where evidence shows it not to be effective.

# **Conclusion**

The issues raised by this inquiry are of profound importance for the health and wellbeing of all Australians. We look to the Committee to examine the issues and make clear recommendations for action

However, this issue must not end with a Senate Committee report, however strong its conclusions. There is a vital need for *governments* to take coordinated action to change policies and services in the area of sexual and reproductive health care, including abortion care.

The *National Women's Health Strategy 2020-30* makes a commitment to universal access to sexual and reproductive health care. <sup>128</sup> But a coherent plan of implementation has been lacking, and urgently needs to be produced by the Australian Government. Without this, reforms will likely be piecemeal and maintain the undesirable postcode lottery that characterises abortion care in Australia.

Affordability is one of the most widely reported and distressing aspects of abortion care. People seeking abortion care need financial support to avoid delays, which cause distress and affect our communities. In the longer term, there are several possible solutions to consider, including looking at Medicare's abortion care subsidies, PBS funding and private health reform agreements. But action is needed now.

PHAA therefore supports calls for some form of national taskforce, located presumably within the Department of Health, to deliver reforms to sexual and reproductive health care, including abortion care and services. The exercise should be led by the Australian Government, but given the shared jurisdictional responsibilities, it must also involve the states and territories, and involve experts including service providers and people with lived experience.

Such a taskforce should have a wide scope and consider medical and surgical abortion, and address intersecting issues, including:

- Embedding abortion and contraception access in public health systems
- Expanding access to all pregnancy options counselling services
- Evaluating and resource universal abortion and contraception access
- Addressing workforce needs and training, including stigma reduction
- Providing innovative models of care, including culturally safe abortion care
- Resolving the lack of national data collection
- Improving community health literacy, including education on relationships and sexuality
- Creating Australian abortion care guidelines for medical professionals
- Harmonising legislation across states and territories
- Ensuring Australia meets its sexual and reproductive rights obligations, such as those under the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW).

The PHAA appreciates the opportunity to make this submission. Please do not hesitate to contact us should you require additional information or have any queries in relation to this submission.

Adj Professor Terry Slevin, Chief Executive Officer

13 January 2023

## References

- 1 World Health Organization. Safe abortion: Technical and policy guidance for health systems. 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 2 AIHW NPSU:Grayson N, Hargreaves J, Sullivan E. Use of routinely collected national data sets for reporting on induced abortion in Australia. AIHW Cat. No. PER 30. Sydney: AIHW National Perinatal Statistics Unit (Perinatal Statistics Series No. 17); 2005.
- 3 World Health Organization. Safe abortion: Technical and policy guidance for health systems. 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 4 de Costa C, Russell D, Carrette M. Views and practices of induced abortion among Australian Fellows and specialist trainees of the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. The Medical journal of Australia. 2010;193(1):13-6.
- 5 de Crespigny L, Willkinson D, Douglas T, Textor M, Savulescu J. Australian attitudes to early and late abortion. The Medical journal of Australia. 2010;193(1):9-12.
- 6 Cations M, Ripper M and Dwyer J (2020). Majority support for access to abortion care including later abortion in South Australia. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 44(5) 349-352. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/1753-6405.12997 [Latest public opinion surveys]
- 7 IPPF Charter guidelines on sexual and reproductive rights.

  https://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf\_charter\_on\_sexual\_and\_reproductive\_rights\_guidlines.pdf
- 8 Biggs MA, Gould H, Barar RE, Foster DG. Five-Year Suicidal Ideation Trajectories Among Women Receiving or Being Denied an Abortion. Am J Psychiatry. 2018;175(9):845-52.
- 9 RANZCOG guidelines: https://ranzcog.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Late-Abortion.pdf
- 10 Department of Health. Northern Territory Clinical Guidelines for Termination of Pregnancy. https://digitallibrary.health.nt.gov.au/prodjspui/bitstream/10137/1305/3/Northern%20Territory%20Clinical%20 Guidelines%20for%20Termination%20of%20Pregnancy.pdf: Northern Territory Government; 2019.
- 11 Queensland Health. Queensland Clinical Guidelines. Termination of pregnancy. https://www.health.qld.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0029/735293/g-top.pdf: Queensland Government; 2019.
- 12 National Abortion Federation. Clinical policy guidelines for abortion care. Washington, DC: National Abortion Federation; 2017.
- 13 World Health Organization. Safe abortion: Technical and policy guidance for health systems. 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 14 Ipas. Comprehensive Abortion Care <a href="http://www.ipas.org/en/What-We-Do/Comprehensive-Abortion-Care.aspx">http://www.ipas.org/en/What-We-Do/Comprehensive-Abortion-Care.aspx</a> [cited 2017 2 September].
- 15 Cameron S. Postabortal and postpartum contraception. Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2014;28(6):871-80.
- 16 de Costa C, Douglas H, Hamblin J, Ramsay P, Shircore M. Abortion law across Australia--A review of nine jurisdictions. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;55(2):105-11.
- 17 World Health Organization. Safe abortion: Technical and policy guidance for health systems. 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 18 Doran F, Nancarrow S. Barriers and facilitators of access to first-trimester abortion services for women in the developed world: a systematic review. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care. 2015;41(3):170-80.
- 19 http://ranzcog.edu.au/resources/statements-and-guidelines-directory/
- 20 https://ihra.org.au/darlington-statement/.
- 21 https://fphandbook.org/sites/default/files/WHO-JHU-FPHandbook-2022Ed-v221114b.pdf
- 22 https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/11/1130592
- 23 https://www.spherecre.org/\_files/ugd/410f2f\_29ba88a46cd441908cc0e1fbecfc2372.pdf
- $24\ https://www.spherecre.org/\_files/ugd/410f2f\_29ba88a46cd441908cc0e1fbecfc2372.pdf$

- 25 The kindest cut: global need to increase vasectomy availability, Jacobstein, Roy, The Lancet Global Health, Volume 3, Issue 12, e733 e734
- 26 Logan M Nickels, Kevin Shane, Heather L Vahdat, Catalyzing momentum in male contraceptive development, *Biology of Reproduction*, Volume 106, Issue 1, January 2022, Pages 1–3, https://doi.org/10.1093/biolre/ioab208
- 27 Cahill, Erica P.; Kaur, Simranvir. Advances in contraception research and development. Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology: December 2020 Volume 32 Issue 6 p 393-398 doi: 10.1097/GCO.000000000000666
- 28 Kerber, Kate J, MPH, de Graft-Johnson, Joseph E, MD, Bhutta, Zulfiqar A, Prof, Okong, Pius, MD, Starrs, Ann, MPA, & Lawn, Joy E, Dr. (2007). Continuum of care for maternal, newborn, and child health: from slogan to service delivery. The Lancet (British Edition), 370(9595), 1358–1369. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61578-5
- 29 https://www.spherecre.org/ files/ugd/410f2f 62cec8ef83944040b057bce97d483335.pdf
- 30 https://endperiodpoverty.com.au/the-solution/
- 31 Guevarra MV, Stubbs JM, Assareh H, Achat HM. Risk factors associated with late entry to antenatal care visits in NSW in 2014. Aust NZJ Public Health. 2017 Oct 1;41(5):543-4.
- 32 https://www.spherecre.org/\_files/ugd/410f2f\_ed200add421549de96deb1af8a1f79a0.pdf
- 33 World Health Organisation. (2017). WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241549912
- 34 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/maternity-models-of-care/contents/what-do-maternity-models-of-care-look-like/continuity-of-carer
- 35 Donnellan-Fernandez RE, Creedy DK, Callander EJ, Gamble J, Toohill J. Differential access to continuity of midwifery care in Queensland, Australia. Australian Health Review. 2020 Aug 28;45(1):28-35
- 36 Dawson, K., Newton, M., Forster, D., & McLachlan, H. (2015). Caseload midwifery in Australia: What access do women have? Women and Birth: Journal of the Australian College of Midwives, 28, S12–S12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2015.07.048
- 37 Steel, A., Adams, J., Frawley, J., Wardle, J., Broom, A., Sidebotham, M., & Sibbritt, D. (2016). Does Australia's Health Policy Environment Create Unintended Outcomes for Birthing Women? Birth, 43(4), 273-276. doi:10.1111/birt.12251
- 38 Lewis, L., Hauck, Y. L., Crichton, C., Pemberton, A., Spence, M., & Kelly, G. (2016). An overview of the first 'no exit' midwifery group practice in a tertiary maternity hospital in Western Australia: Outcomes, satisfaction and perceptions of care. Women and Birth, 29(6), 494-502. doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2016.04.009
- 39 Sandall, J., Soltani, H., Gates, S., Shennan, A., & Devane, D. (2016). Midwife-led continuity models versus other models of care for childbearing women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 4, Cd004667. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004667.pub5
- 40 Forster, D., McLachlan, H., Davey, M., Biro, M., Farrell, T., Gold, L., . . . Waldenström, U. (2016). Continuity of care by a primary midwife (caseload midwifery) increases women's satisfaction with antenatal, intrapartum and postpartum care: results from the COSMOS randomised controlled trial. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 16(1), 28. doi:10.1186/s12884-016-0798-y
- 41 Fenwick J, Sidebotham M, Gamble J, Creedy DK. The emotional and professional wellbeing of Australian midwives: A comparison between those providing continuity of midwifery care and those not providing continuity. Women and Birth. 2018;31(1):38-43. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2017.06.013.
- 42 Tracy, S., Welsh, A., Hall, B., Hartz, D., Lainchbury, A., Bisits, A., . . . Tracy, M. (2014). Caseload midwifery compared to standard or private obstetric care for first time mothers in a public teaching hospital in Australia: a cross sectional study of cost and birth outcomes. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 14(1), 46-46. doi:10.1186/1471-2393-14-46
- 43 Kildea S, McGhie AC, Gao Y, Rumbold A, Rolfe M. Babies born before arrival to hospital and maternity unit closures in Queensland and Australia. Women and Birth. 2015;28(3):236-45. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2015.03.003.
- 44 Corcoran PM, Catling C, Homer CSE. Models of midwifery care for Indigenous women and babies: A meta-synthesis. Women and Birth. 2017;30(1):77-86. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2016.08.003.
- 45 Longman J, Kornelsen J, Pilcher J, Kildea S, Kruske S, Grzybowski S, et al. Maternity services for rural and remote Australia: barriers to operationalising national policy. Health Policy. 2017;121(11):1161-8. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2017.09.012.
- 46 Homer, C., Cheah, S., Rossiter, C., Dahlen, H., Ellwood, D., Foureur, M., . . . Scarf, V. (2019). Maternal and perinatal outcomes by planned place of birth in Australia 2000 2012: a linked population data study. BMJ Open, 9(10), e029192. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029192

- 47 Forster, D., McKay, H., Davey, M., Small, R., Cullinane, F., Newton, M., . . . McLachlan, H. (2019). Women's views and experiences of publicly-funded homebirth programs in Victoria, Australia: A cross-sectional survey. Women Birth, 32(3), 221-230. doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2018.07.019
- 48 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/australias-mothers-babies/contents/labour-and-birth/place-of-
- 49 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/australias-mothers-babies/contents/labour-and-birth/methodof-birth
- 50 https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-RHR-15.02
- 51 Keag, O. E., Norman, J. E., & Stock, S. J. (2018). Long-term risks and benefits associated with cesarean delivery for mother, baby, and subsequent pregnancies: Systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS medicine, 15(1), e1002494. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002494
- 52 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/australias-mothers-babies/contents/labour-and-birth/perinealstatus
- 53 Garner, D. K., Patel, A. B., Hung, J., Castro, M., Segev, T. G., Plochocki, J. H., & Hall, M. I. (2021). Midline and Mediolateral Episiotomy: Risk Assessment Based on Clinical Anatomy. Diagnostics (Basel, Switzerland), 11(2), 221. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11020221
- 54 Doğan, B., Gün, İsmet, Özdamar, Özkan, Yılmaz, A., & Muhçu, M. (2017). Long-term impacts of vaginal birth with mediolateral episiotomy on sexual and pelvic dysfunction and perineal pain. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine, 30(4), 457-460. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2016.1174998
- 55 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/australias-mothers-babies/contents/labour-and-birth/onset-oflabour
- 56 Dahlen HG, Thornton C, Downe S, et allntrapartum interventions and outcomes for women and children following induction of labour at term in uncomplicated pregnancies: a 16-year population-based linked data studyBMJ Open 2021;11:e047040. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047040
- 57 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/australias-mothers-babies/contents/babyoutcomes/admission-to-a-special-care-nursery-or-neonatal-intensive-care-unit
- 58 Townsend, M., Brassel, A., Baafi, M., & Grenyer, B. (2020). Childbirth satisfaction and perceptions of control: postnatal psychological implications. British Journal of Midwifery, 28(4), 225-233. doi:10.12968/bjom.2020.28.4.225
- 59 Simpson, M., Schmied, V., Dickson, C., & Dahlen, H. (2018). Postnatal post-traumatic stress: An integrative review. Women Birth, 31(5), 367-379. doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2017.12.003
- 60 Kendall-Tackett, K., Cong, Z., & Hale, T. W. (2015). Birth Interventions Related to Lower Rates of Exclusive Breastfeeding and Increased Risk of Postpartum Depression in a Large Sample. Clin Lactation(3), 87-97. doi:10.1891/2158-0782.6.3.87
- 61 Ford, E., & Ayers, S. (2011). Support during birth interacts with prior trauma and birth intervention to predict postnatal post-traumatic stress symptoms. Psychology & Health, 26(12), 1553-1570. doi:10.1080/08870446.2010.533770
- 62 Creedy, D. K., Shochet, I. M., & Horsfall, J. (2000). Childbirth and the Development of Acute Trauma Symptoms: Incidence and Contributing Factors. Birth, 27(2), 104-111. doi:10.1046/j.1523-536x.2000.00104.x
- 63 Gidget Foundation. The cost of perinatal depression and anxiety in Australia. 2019. Available from: https://gidgetfoundation.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Cost-of-PNDA-in-Australia -Final-Report.pdf
- 64 Alcorn KL, O'Donovan A, Patrick JC, Creedy D, Devilly GJ. A prospective longitudinal study of the prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder resulting from childbirth events.
- 65 Harris, R., & Ayers, S. (2012). What makes labour and birth traumatic? A survey of intrapartum 'hotspots'. Psychology & Health, 27(10), 1166-1177. doi:10.1080/08870446.2011.649755
- 66 Jenkinson, B., Kruske, S., & Kildea, S. (2017). The experiences of women, midwives and obstetricians when women decline recommended maternity care: A feminist thematic analysis. Midwifery, 52, 1-10. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2017.05.006
- 67 Miller YD, Thompson R, Porter J, Prosser SJ. Findings from the Having a Baby in Queensland Survey, 2010. Queensland Centre for Mothers & Babies, The University of Queensland; 2011. Available from: https://eprints.qut.edu.au/117937/1/Survey%20Report%202010.pdf
- 68 Kruske, S., Young, K., Jenkinson, B., & Catchlove, A. (2013). Maternity care providers' perceptions of women's autonomy and the law. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 13(1), 84. doi:10.1186/1471-2393-13-84
- 69 Human Rights in Childbirth. Submission by Human Rights in Childbirth to the Australian Human Rights Commission. 2019 Available from: https://humanrights.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-09/sub 149 -\_human\_rights\_in\_childbirth.pdf 20 Napier Close Deakin ACT Australia, 2600 – PO Box 319 Curtin ACT Australia 2605

- 70 Homer, C.S., Watts, N.P., Petrovska, K. et al. Women's experiences of planning a vaginal breech birth in Australia. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 15, 89 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-015-0521-4
- 71 Liu, Y., Davey, M.-A., Lee, R., Palmer, K.R. and Wallace, E.M. (2020), Changes in the modes of twin birth in Victoria, 1983–2015. Med. J. Aust., 212: 82-88. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.50402
- 72 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/maternal-deaths-australia
- 73 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/stillbirths-and-neonatal-deaths
- 74 Ireland S, Montgomery-Andersen R, Geraghty S. Indigenous Doulas: A literature review exploring their role and practice in western maternity care. Midwifery. 2019;75:52-8. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2019.04.005.
- 75 Nommsen-Rivers LA, Mastergeorge AM, Hansen RL, Cullum AS, Dewey KG. Doula Care, Early Breastfeeding Outcomes, and Breastfeeding Status at 6 Weeks Postpartum Among Low-Income Primiparae. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2009;38(2):157-73. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6909.2009.01005.x.
- 76 Schytt, E., Wahlberg, A., Small, R., Eltayb, A., & Lindgren, H. (2021). The community-based bilingual doula A new actor filling gaps in labour care for migrant women. Findings from a qualitative study of midwives' and obstetricians' experiences. Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare, 28, 100614–100614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2021.100614
- 77 Donnellan-Fernandez RE, Creedy DK, Callander EJ, Gamble J, Toohill J. Differential access to continuity of midwifery care in Queensland, Australia. Australian Health Review. 2020 Aug 28;45(1):28-35.
- 78 https://positivewomen.org.au/pregnancy-breastfeeding/
- 79 World Health Organization. WHO recommendations on health promotion interventions for maternal and newborn health 2015. World Health Organization; 2015.
- 80 Steen M, Downe S, Bamford N, Edozien L. Not-patient and not-visitor: A metasynthesis fathers' encounters with pregnancy, birth and maternity care. Midwifery. 2012;28(4):422-31.
- 81 Culturally Responsive Clinical Practice: Working with People from Migrant and Refugee Backgrounds (culturaldiversityhealth.org.au)
- 82 https://bmcwomenshealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12905-015-0165-6
- 83 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S104938671630192X
- 84 https://www.spherecre.org/\_files/ugd/410f2f\_62cec8ef83944040b057bce97d483335.pdf
- 85 Mengesha, Z.B.; Perz, J.; Dune, T.; Ussher, J. Preparedness of Health Care Professionals for Delivering Sexual and Reproductive Health Care to Refugee and Migrant Women: A Mixed Methods Study. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2018, 15, 174. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15010174
- 86 https://www.who.int/teams/sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-research/key-areas-of-work/sexual-health/defining-sexual-health
- 87 On, M. L., Ayre, J., Webster, K., & Moon, L. (2016). *Examination of the health outcomes of intimate partner violence against women: State of knowledge paper* (ANROWS Landscapes, 03/2016). Sydney, NSW: ANROWS
- 88 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2018). Family, domestic and sexual violence in Australia 2018 (Cat. no. FDV 2). Canberra: AIHW.
- 89 Fernández-Fillol C, Pitsiakou C, Perez-Garcia M, Teva I, Hidalgo-Ruzzante N. Complex PTSD in survivors of intimate partner violence: risk factors related to symptoms and diagnoses. Eur J Psychotraumatol. 2021 Dec 16;12(1):2003616. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2021.2003616. PMID: 34925711; PMCID: PMC8682852.
- 90 https://www.dss.gov.au/ending-violence
- 91 https://theconversation.com/family-violence-victims-need-support-not-mandatory-reporting-44133
- 92 Kildea S, Gao Y, Hickey S, Kruske S, Nelson C, Blackman R, et al. Reducing preterm birth amongst Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies: A prospective cohort study, Brisbane, Australia. EClinicalMedicine. 2019;12:43-51. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2019.06.001.
- 93 Kildea S, Gao Y, Hickey S, Nelson C, Kruske S, Carson A, et al. Effect of a Birthing on Country service redesign on maternal and neonatal health outcomes for First Nations Australians: a prospective, non-randomised, interventional trial. The Lancet Global Health. 2021;9(5):e651-e9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(21)00061-9.
- $94\ https://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/eclinm/PIIS2589-5370(22)00145-6.pdf$
- 95 Mengesha ZB, Dune T, Perz J. Culturally and linguistically diverse women's views and experiences of accessing sexual and reproductive health care in Australia: a systematic review. Sexual health. 2016 May 23;13(4):299-310.
- 96 Jones E, Lattof SR, Coast E. Interventions to provide culturally-appropriate maternity care services: factors affecting implementation. BMC pregnancy and childbirth. 2017 Dec;17(1):1-0.
- 97 https://www.who.int/teams/sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-research/key-areas-of-work/sexual-health/defining-sexual-health

- 98 For more detail see PHAA's statement on Comprehensive Relationships and Sexuality Education and Reproductive Health for Children and Young People at School at https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/5635
- 99 https://www.thieme-connect.com/products/ejournals/html/10.1055/s-0042-1749683
- 100 https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258738
- 101 https://www.spherecre.org/\_files/ugd/410f2f\_de09257b44084b0ba5765d8df63d1627.pdf
- 102 Mengesha Z, Hawkey AJ, Baroudi M, Ussher JM, Perz J. Men of refugee and migrant backgrounds in Australia: a scoping review of sexual and reproductive health research. Sex Health. 2022 Oct 20. doi: 10.1071/SH22073.
- 103 Mengesha Z, Hawkey AJ, Baroudi M, Ussher JM, Perz J. Men of refugee and migrant backgrounds in Australia: a scoping review of sexual and reproductive health research. Sex Health. 2022 Oct 20. doi: 10.1071/SH22073.
- 104 Mengesha ZB, Perz J, Dune T, Ussher J. Refugee and migrant women's engagement with sexual and reproductive health care in Australia: A socio-ecological analysis of health care professional perspectives
- 105 Frawley, P., Wilson, N., David, J. et al. Access to Sexual Health Services and Support for People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities: an Australian Cross-sector Survey. Sex Res Soc Policy (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-022-00734-7
- 106 https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/5596
- 107 Frawley, P., Wilson, N.J. Young People with Intellectual Disability Talking About Sexuality Education and Information. Sex Disabil 34, 469–484 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11195-016-9460-x
- 108 Carter A, Strnadov I, Watfern C, Pebdani R, Bateson D, Loblinzk J, et al. The Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Young People with Intellectual Disability: A Scoping Review. Sexuality Research and Social Policy. 2022;19(3).
- 109 Strnadov I, Danker J, Carter A. Scoping review on sex education for high school-aged students with intellectual disability and/or on the autism spectrum: parents', teachers' and students' perspectives, attitudes and experiences. Sex Education. 2021.
- 110 Benzie, C., Newton, M., Forster, D., & McLachlan, H. (2022). How are women with a disability identified in maternity services in Australia? A cross-sectional survey of maternity managers. Women and Birth: Journal of the Australian College of Midwives. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2022.06.002
- 111 https://wwda.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Towards-Reproductive-Justice-for-young-women-girls-feminine-identifying-and-non-binary-people-with-disability-YWGwD.pdf
- 112 https://wwda.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Towards-Reproductive-Justice-for-young-women-girls-feminine-identifying-and-non-binary-people-with-disability-YWGwD.pdf
- 113 https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/5352
- 114 Gomez AM, Đỗ L, Ratliff GA, Crego PI, Hastings J. Contraceptive Beliefs, Needs, and Care Experiences Among Transgender and Nonbinary Young Adults. J Adolesc Health 2020;67(4):597-602.
- 115 Agénor M, Cottrill AA, Kay E, Janiak E, Gordon AR, Potter J. Contraceptive Beliefs, Decision Making and Care Experiences Among Transmasculine Young Adults: A Qualitative Analysis. Perspect Sex Reprod Health 2020;52(1):7-14.
- 116 Bretherton I, Thrower E, Zwickl S, Wong A, Chetcuti D, Grossmann M, et al. The Health and Well-Being of Transgender Australians: A National Community Survey. LGBT Health 2021;8(1):42-9.
- 117 Leonard W, Pitts M, Mitchell A, Lyons A, Smith A, Patel S, et al. Private Lives 2: The second national survey of the health and wellbeing of gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender (GLBT) Australians. Monograph Series Number 86. Melbourne: The Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University; 2012
- 118 Bartholomaeus, C., & Riggs, D. W. (2020). Transgender and non-binary Australians' experiences with healthcare professionals in relation to fertility preservation. Culture, Health & Sexuality, 22(2), 129–145. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2019.1580388
- 119 Charter, R., Ussher, J. M., Perz, J., & Robinson, K. (2018). The transgender parent: Experiences and constructions of pregnancy and parenthood for transgender men in Australia. The International Journal of Transgenderism, 19(1), 64–77. https://doi.org/10.1080/15532739.2017.1399496
- 120 https://www.wgea.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/Parental-leave-and-gender-equality.pdf
- 121 https://www.vwt.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/Ourselves-At-Work-DIGITAL-V5.pdf
- 122 https://www.reproductivehealthleave.com.au/what-is-reproductive-health-and-wel
- 123 Luke, J., Dalach, P., Tuer, L. *et al.* Investigating disparity in access to Australian clinical genetic health services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. *Nat Commun* **13**, 4966 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32707-0
- 124 https://www.msiaustralia.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Hidden-Forces-Second-Edition-.pdf
- 125 https://www.spherecre.org/\_files/ugd/410f2f\_de09257b44084b0ba5765d8df63d1627.pdf

126 Australia: trends and directions. Reprod Health 19, 170 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-022-01479-7

127 Sheeran, N., Vallury, K., Sharman, L.S. *et al.* Reproductive coercion and abuse among pregnancy counselling clients in

128 https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/national-womens-health-strategy-2020-2030